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I.  INTRODUCTION

1.
By this Notice of Apparent Liability for Forfeiture (NAL),
 we initiate enforcement action against Telmex International Ventures USA, Inc. (Telmex USA).  For the reasons set forth below, we find that Telmex USA has apparently willfully or repeatedly violated the terms and conditions of its grant of authority for transfer of control and its section 214 authorization to provide international switched resale services to all points, including Mexico.
  Based upon our review of the facts and circumstances surrounding the violation, we find that Telmex USA is apparently liable for a forfeiture in the amount of one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000).

II. BACKGROUND

2.
Telmex International Ventures USA, Inc. (Telmex USA) is a common carrier that is authorized to provide international switched resale telephony service.  Telmex USA is the wholly owned United States subsidiary of Télefonos de México, S.A. de C.V. (Telmex), a Mexican telephone company.  Prior to the Commission’s approval of Telmex USA's application for transfer of control on June 30, 1999, Telmex USA’s immediate predecessor was Telmex/Sprint Communications, L.L.C. (TSC).  TSC was a joint venture of Telmex and the Sprint Corporation (Sprint), a U.S. corporation.

3.
On October 30, 1997, the International Bureau released the TSC Order, which conditionally approved TSC’s application to provide international switched resale services between the United States and all international points, including Mexico.
  The International Bureau specifically conditioned TSC's section 214 authorization upon the compliance of TSC’s Mexican affiliate, Telmex, on, among other things, Telmex’s commitment to provision private lines and private circuits to all carriers on a timely and nondiscriminatory basis.
  These circuits and lines are used to provide end-to-end U.S.-Mexico service to customers of United States carriers.
  Telmex’s commitment to provision the lines and circuits was based upon a private agreement dated October 10, 1997 between Telmex and Avantel,
 a Telmex competitor, in which Telmex was to comply with specific provisioning schedules.

4.
Subsequent to conditionally approving TSC’s section 214 application, the International Bureau considered whether to provide TSC with final approval of its section 214 application.
  The Bureau considered allegations that Telmex was engaging in anticompetitive conduct harmful to competition in the United States international common carrier services market.
  At the time of the approval, the International Bureau noted that it would "continue to monitor conditions in this market closely to ensure that anticompetitive conduct by TSC does not adversely affect competition in this market."
  The Bureau further stated that, "if we find evidence of such anticompetitive conduct, we reserve the right to impose substantial forfeitures or suspend or terminate this authorization for failure to meet the conditions of the grant."
  On August 7, 1998, the International Bureau determined that TSC had satisfied the appropriate preconditions for section 214 authorization and consequently approved TSC’s immediate offering of common carrier services between the United States and Mexico.


5.
In November 1998, the International Bureau issued a Show Cause Order, in which it identified apparent violations of TSC's section 214 authorization.
  The Bureau found that TSC failed to comply with its commitment that Telmex provision private lines and private circuits expeditiously.
  TSC's response to the Show Cause Order acknowledged that Telmex had delayed completion of service orders and did not refute the further allegations that Telmex had failed to meet promised provisioning targets.
  TSC, however, declared its intention to adhere to its commitment that Telmex would provision private and circuit lines in the future, stating that "Telmex continues to stand by its agreement to ensure timely private line and circuit provisioning to Avantel, and recommits itself to comply with the deadlines set forth in the agreement."


6.
In May 1999, TSC filed an application for transfer of control from TSC to Telmex USA.
  In its application, TSC stated that on May 4, 1999, Telmex and Sprint announced their mutual decision to terminate their joint venture relationship and Telmex’s intention to acquire Sprint’s interest in the venture.
  Notably, Telmex USA stated clearly its expectation that “all of the other conditions to TSC’s section 214 authorization will continue to apply under the transferred authorization, and Telmex USA and its parent, Telmex, will comply fully with each of those conditions.”


7.
In a Public Notice dated July 2, 1999, the Commission granted TSC’s application for transfer of control to Telmex USA.  The Commission explicitly noted that the “[t]ransferee will be subject to all conditions imposed on TSC in its original Section 214 authorization. . . .”
  On August 16, 1999 and September 2, 1999, however, MCI WorldCom filed ex parte submissions with the Commission alleging that Telmex was refusing to provide any private circuits and lines to Avantel.
 Furthermore, on August 27, 1999, AT&T filed an ex parte submission which made similar allegations to those of MCI WorldCom, related to Telmex’s refusal to provide lines to Alestra, another competitor of Telmex.


8.
In response to MCI WorldCom’s and AT&T’s allegations, the International Bureau, in a letter dated September 16, 1999, requested that Telmex USA confirm or deny whether Telmex ceased provisioning private lines and circuits to Avantel, Alestra, or other competitors.
  Telmex USA’s response admits that, for various reasons, Telmex did cease to provision additional private lines and circuits to Avantel and Alestra on July 26, 1999.

III. DISCUSSION

A.
Violations Evidenced in the Record


9.
Section 503(b)(1) of the Act states that any person who is determined by the Commission to have willfully or repeatedly failed to comply substantially with the terms and conditions of any certificate or order issued by the Commission shall be liable to the United States for a forfeiture penalty.
  For purposes of Section 503(b) of the Communications Act, the term “willful” means that the violator knew it was taking the action in question, irrespective of any intent to violate the Commission’s rules.
  For purposes of computing a forfeiture under Section 503(b)(1) of the Act, each day of a continuing violation is considered a separate violation
 and a violation is repeated if it occurs more than once.

10.
The relevant facts as provided by MCI WorldCom and AT&T, and admitted to by Telmex USA, appear to establish a continuing pattern of willful and repeated violations pertaining to the provisioning of private lines and circuits by its parent, Telmex.  This conduct is in direct conflict with the condition of its grant of authority for transfer of control and its section 214 authorization.
    MCI WorldCom alleges that delivery time for private lines and circuits gradually deteriorated throughout 1999 to a point where Telmex refused to comply with its commitment to provision private circuits and lines.
  MCI Worldcom states further that, as of July 26, 1999, Telmex refused to accept any private circuit and line orders from selected competitors, including Avantel.
  AT&T, moreover, echoes these concerns in letters provided to the Commission with respect to Alestra.
  Based upon submissions to the International Bureau by Telmex USA, it appears that Telmex ceased to provision private circuits and lines to Avantel approximately two months after declaring to the Commission that Telmex USA and its parent, Telmex, would comply fully with all section 214 conditions.


11.
Although Telmex USA admits that Telmex ceased to provision the private circuits and lines, it argues in rebuttal to MCI WorldCom and AT&T’s allegations that Telmex’s decision to cease provisioning is “fully justified and reasonable in light of MCI-Avantel’s pattern and practice in Mexico of breaching” the Master Interconnection Agreement between the carriers, refusing to pay “millions of dollars in interconnection-related fees,” and using “a substantial number of private lines and circuits at issue to engage directly or indirectly in bypass of international gateways.”
  The instant case, however, concerns only whether Telmex USA complied with the terms and conditions of its grant of authority for transfer of control and its underlying section 214 authorization.  As the record illustrates, Telmex USA did not comply with conditions of the order and authorization and, as such, forfeiture action is warranted.


12.
The original source of the Telmex commitment to provision private lines and circuits to its competitors in Mexico is contained in correspondence from the Chief Financial Officer of Telmex to the International Bureau, in which Telmex stated that “Telmex will continue to comply with the circuit provisioning deadlines set forth in its concession. . . .”
  The concession included commitments to provision private circuits and lines within a specific period.
  Since that time in 1997 the Commission has regularly referred to this commitment, in various forms, as a condition of TSC’s and Telmex USA’s authority to operate and the grant of transfer of control.  On numerous occasions, Telmex, TSC, or Telmex USA have, in statements to the Commission, agreed to abide by this condition.
  Most recently, in May 1999, in its application for transfer of control from TSC to Telmex USA, Telmex USA stated clearly its expectation that “all of the other conditions to TSC’s section 214 authorization will continue to apply under the transferred authorization, and Telmex USA and its parent, Telmex, will comply fully with each of those conditions.”

13.
The record evidences that the International Bureau repeatedly informed Telmex USA and its predecessor, TSC, that, as a condition of its section 214 authorization, Telmex was to provision private lines and circuits on a timely and nondiscriminatory basis in accordance with specified schedules.
  Indeed, Telmex USA acknowledges that Telmex ceased providing new private lines and entering into new service order agreements to provision additional private lines and circuits to Avantel and Alestra.
  Telmex USA thus exposed itself to liability under section 503(b)(1)(A) of the Act when its parent, Telmex, refused to provision private circuits and lines; Telmex USA thereby failed to comply with a condition of its section 214 authorization. 
  It also appears that Telmex has repeatedly failed to provision the lines and circuits beginning on July 26, 1999 and continuing, based upon the record, through the end of calendar year 1999, a period spanning more than five months.

14.
Therefore, we conclude, based upon the record before us, including the admission of Telmex USA, that Telmex USA has willfully or repeatedly failed to comply with a condition of its authorization.

B.
Forfeiture Amount

      
15.
Telmex USA’s continued failure to comply with a critical condition of its section 214 authorization and the underlying order persuades us that a significant forfeiture action is warranted against Telmex USA for willful or repeated violations of the condition.  In determining the amount of an appropriate forfeiture here, we consider the factors enumerated in section 503(b)(2)(D) of the Communications Act, which are “the nature, circumstances, extent and gravity of the violation, and, with respect to the violator, the degree of culpability, any history of prior offenses, ability to pay, and such other matters as justice may require.”
  We consider the continued failure of Telmex USA to comply with a critical condition of its section 214 authorization and the underlying order to be a very serious violation.  The violation is aggravated by the fact that the violation continued over five months, to the disadvantage of U.S. carriers and consumers.  In addition, in the wake of the directives from the International Bureau, the violation appears to be intentional.  Under these circumstances, we conclude that a forfeiture in the amount of $100,000 is appropriate.

IV.  ORDERING CLAUSES

16.
ACCORDINGLY, IT IS ORDERED pursuant to section 503(b) of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended,
 and sections 0.311(4) and 1.80 of the Commission’s rules,
 that Telmex International Ventures USA, Inc. is HEREBY NOTIFIED of its APPARENT LIABILITY FOR FORFEITURE in the amount of one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) for willfully or repeatedly violating a condition of its section 214 authorization and the underlying transfer of control order.

 
17.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, pursuant to Section 1.80 of the Commission’s rules,
 that within thirty (30) days of the release of this Notice, Telmex International Ventures USA, Inc. SHALL PAY
 to the United States the full amount of the proposed forfeiture OR SHALL FILE a written statement showing why the proposed forfeiture should not be imposed or should be reduced.

18.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that a copy of this Notice shall be sent, by Certified Mail/Return Receipt Requested, to Telmex International Ventures USA, Inc.’s counsel, Gary M. Epstein, Latham & Watkins, 1001 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Suite 1300, Washington, D.C. 20004-2505.





FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION





David  H. Solomon

Chief, Enforcement Bureau




� 	See section 47 U.S.C. §503(b)(1).  The Commission has authority under this section of the Communications Act to assess a forfeiture penalty against any person if the Commission determines that there has been a willful or repeated failure to comply substantially with the terms and conditions of any certificate or order issued by the Commission.  See also 47 C.F.R. § 1.80.





� 	See International Authorizations Granted, 14 FCC Rcd 13107 (1999) (public notice granting transfer of control from Telmex/Sprint Communications, L.L.C. to Telmex International Ventures USA, Inc.); Telmex/Sprint Communications, L.L.C.: Application for Authority under section 214 of the Communications Act for Global Authority to Operate as an International Switched Resale Carrier Between the United States and International Points, Including Mexico, Order, Authorization and Certificate, 12 FCC Rcd 17551 (International Bureau, 1997) (TSC Order).
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� 	See TSC Order, 12 FCC Rcd at 17581-83, 17591.





�	See Letter from Donald Abelson, Chief, International Bureau to Gary Epstein, Counsel for Telmex International Ventures, USA, Inc., September 16, 1999 at 1 (September 1999 Letter) (discussing the importance of provisioning lines and circuits).





� 	Avantel is a Mexican company authorized to provide telephone service in Mexico and is 45% owned by MCI WorldCom.
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�	See August 1998 TSC Order, 13 FCC Rcd at 21672.
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�	 See August 1998 TSC Order, 13 FCC Rcd at 21664-65.





�	See Order to Show Cause, Telmex/Sprint Communications, L.L.C., 13 FCC Rcd 24990 (1998) (Telmex/Sprint Order to Show Cause).  Commission action in this proceeding is still pending.





�	Telmex/Sprint Order to Show Cause, 13 FCC Rcd at 24993.





�	See Response of Telmex/Sprint Communications, L.L.C. to Order to Show Cause, File No. ITC 97-127, at 16, December 23, 1998 (TSC Response).
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�	See September 1999 Telmex USA Response Letter at 2-3.  MCI WorldCom responds to these allegations by arguing, among other things, that “Telmex attempts to justify this violation of its authority to operate in the United States by introducing irrelevant and misleading information about Avantel and the regulatory situation in Mexico.” See MCI WorldCom ex parte re: Telmex International Ventures USA, Inc., File No. ITC-97-127, October 20, 1999, at 1.





� 	Letter from Adolfo Cerezo, Chief Financial Officer, Telmex to Regina Keeney, Chief, International Bureau at 1 (Oct 28, 1997) (Telmex Commitment Letter).





� 	Condition 4, Annex I, and Telmex’s Concession require Telmex to install 80 percent of long distance private circuits within 30 days and 97 percent within 45 days, the same terms contained in its agreement on this matter with Avantel.  TSC Order, 12 FCC Rcd 17551 at ¶74.
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�	Payment of the forfeiture amount may be made by credit card through the Commission's Billings and Collections Branch at (202) 418-1995, or by check or similar instrument drawn to the order of the Federal Communications Commission.  Such remittances must be mailed to Forfeiture Collection Section, Finance Branch, Federal Communications Commission, P.O. Box 73482, Chicago, Illinois 60673-7482.  Reference should be made on Telmex International Ventures USA, Incorporated’s check or money order to “NAL/ Acct. No. X32080002.”
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